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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ALLIANCE FOR NATURAL
HEALTH USA,

211 N. Union St., Suite 100,
Alexandria, VA 22314, and

MEDITREND, INC.,
4820 Eubank Blvd.,
Albuquerque, NM 87111,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
c/o Attorney General of the United
States,

U.S. Department of Justice,

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW,
Washington, DC 20530-0001;

U.S. FOOD AND DRUG
ADMINISTRATION,

10903 New Hampshire Avenue, Silver

Spring, MD 20993; and

ROBERT M. CALIFF,
Commissioner of the

U.S. Food and Drug Administration,
10903 New Hampshire Avenue, Silver

Spring, MD 20993,

Defendants.

Complaint for Declaratory & Injunctive Relief

Civil Action No.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY|
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF RE:

(1) VIOLATIONS OF 5 U.S.C. §
706(2)(A)(C) & 5 U.S.C. § 553(b);
AND

(2) VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH
AMENDMENT DUE PROCESS
CLAUSE AND 5 U.S.C. §

706(2)(B)
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
I. INTRODUCTION

1.  Plaintiffs Alliance for Natural Health USA (“ANH”) and Meditrend,
Inc. (“Plaintiffs”), by counsel, hereby submit this Complaint against Defendants
Robert M. Califf, Commissioner, United States Food and Drug Administration (in
his official capacity); the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”); and
the United States of America.

2. Homeopathy is a medical art and science involving medical dilutions
that assist the body’s self-healing mechanisms. The United States Congress
recognized homeopathy as a medical art and the Food Drug and Cosmetic Act
(“FDCA”) includes particular provisions that uniquely protect that art. See, e.g., 21
U.S.C. 321(g)(1)(A) (recognizing homeopathic products as “drugs™); id. at §§
351(b), 352(g) (adopting requirements of the Homoeopathic Pharmacopoeia of the
United States when a product is labeled and offered for sale as a homeopathic drug).
Similarly, the FDA has exempted homeopathic drugs from certain drug requirements
and has treated them differently than conventional drugs. See21 C.F.R. § 211.137(e)
(exempting homeopathic drugs from expiration dating requirements); id. at §
211.166(c) (imposing different stability testing requirements on homeopathic
drugs).

3.  Homeopathy is a widely used practice, recognized by the World Health
Organization,! dating back to the Greek physician Hippocrates, and refined
thereafter through hundreds of years of medical practice, prescription, and patient

experience. Millions of consumers use homeopathic drug products every day

1'WHO, 2019. "WHO Report on Traditional and Complementary Medicine",
2019. WHO, Geneva. Available at
https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/312342/9789241515436-
eng.pdf?sequence=1 (last accessed Oct. 15, 2024).
2
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products. See 87 Fed. Reg. 61063, 61064 (Oct. 7, 2022) (announcing Prescription
Drug User Fee Amendments (“PDUFA”) rates for fiscal year 2023, which includes
a $1,621,013 application fee when no clinical data is required and a $3,242,026
application fee when clinical data is required).

6.  After nearly 80 years of limited regulation, the FDA recently altered its
policy regarding homeopathic drug products. In 2017, the FDA issued a draft
guidance entitled, “Drug Products Labeled as Homeopathic,” announcing the
agency’s shift to a so-called “risk-based approach.” See 82 Fed. Reg. 60403 (Dec.
20, 2017) (Notice of availability of Draft Guidance). Despite decades of extensive
and safe use of homeopathic OTCs, the FDA speculated without any proof that
homeopathic drugs were endemically or inherently unsafe citing rare, isolated
instances of mismanufacture as a basis for concluding that homeopathics posed a
safety risk. The FDA issued its final guidance on December 6, 2022 (hereinafter
“Final Guidance™),? which coincided with FDA’s withdrawal of Compliance Policy
Guide (CPG) 400.400 (hereinafter “CPG 400.400”).* FDA now takes the position
that, “absent a determination that a homeopathic drug product is not a ‘new drug’
under section 201(p), all homeopathic drug products are subject to the premarket
approval requirements in section 505 of the FD&C Act[.]” Id. (explaining that there
“are currently no homeopathic drug products that are approved by the FDA”).

3 FDA, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research and Center for Biologics
Evaluation and Research. “Homeopathic Drug Products Guidance for FDA Staff
and Industry.” December 2022. Docket Number FDA-2017-D-6580. Available at
https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-
documents/homeopathic-drug-products-guidance-fda-staff-and-industry (last
accessed Oct. 15, 2024).

* The CPG 400.400 governed U.S. sale of homeopathic drug products from 1988
to October 24, 2019, when it was withdrawn because it was deemed “inconsistent
with the agency’s risk-based approach to regulatory and enforcement action”; see
https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/statement-agencys-efforts-
protect-patients-potentially-harmful-drugs-sold-homeopathic-products (last
accessed Oct. 15, 2024).
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7. By concluding in the Final Guidance that all homeopathic drugs are
subject to premarket drug approval requirements, the FDA has foreclosed practical
channels to market OTC homeopathic drugs. Those products are now saleable only
at the whim of the FDA because the agency has provided homeopathic drugs no
viable regulatory pathway to lawful marketing. In other words, FDA has rendered
the FDCA’s provisions recognizing the legality of homeopathic drugs of no legal
force or effect whenever FDA agents in the exercise of unbridled discretion deem
any single homeopathic product deserving of enforcement. That change follows
decades of settled regulation and accepted pathways to market under CPG 400.400,
which the Final Guidance revoked.

8.  The FDA'’s latest policy conflicts with Congressional intent to relax—
not heighten—the regulatory burdens on homeopathic drugs, particularly OTC
products. Congress addressed OTC drug regulation in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act of 2020 (“CARES Act”). In the CARES Act, Congress
specifically and unequivocally exempted homeopathic OTC products from
conventional drug pre-market approval requirements based on the rationale that
homeopathic drugs are a “unique and separate category of drugs.” See CARES Act
§ 3853 (citing and incorporating 37 Fed. Reg. at 9466 §25).

9. By treating OTC homeopathic drugs the same way as conventional
drugs, the FDA unlawfully merges homeopathic drug with conventional drug
regulation in direct contravention of the CARES Act. By regulating homeopathic
drugs under the same framework as conventional drugs, the FDA threatens
irreparable injury to the $6.2 billion homeopathic industry in the United States. See
Precedence Research, Homeopathic Products Market (By Product: Dilutions,
Tincture, Tablets, and Others; By Application: Analgesic and Antipyretic,
Respiratory, Neurology, Others; By Source: Animals, Plants, and Minerals) - Global
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14. The Plaintiffs’ requested relief is authorized under 28 U.S.C. § 2201
(declaratory relief) and 28 U.S.C. § 2202 (further relief), as well as 5 U.S.C. § 702
(Administrative Procedure Act).

15. Venue is properly vested in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)
because the Defendants reside in this district and a substantial part of the events

giving rise to this action occurred in this district.

III. PARTIES

A. Plaintiff

16. Plaintiff ANH, based in Alexandria, Virginia, works nationally to
promote sustainable approaches to healthcare and defends freedom of choice in
healthcare through lasting policy change and public education. ANH protects access
to healthcare by lobbying Congress and state legislatures; acting as a government
watchdog; filing comments in rulemakings; educating the public, press, and
decision-makers about threats to consumer access to healthcare options, and
initiating suits to ensure access.

17. Plaintiff Meditrend is a homeopathic drug distributor based in
Albuquerque, New Mexico. For over four decades, Meditrend, through its owner
Richard D. Savage, has been engaged in the development and distribution of
innovative health solutions, including OTC products marketed in the United States
as homeopathic drugs. Meditrend uses contract manufacturers to make its
homeopathic drug products. Meditrend’s homeopathic business is directly and
adversely affected by the FDA’s altered approach to regulation of OTC homeopathic
products, including through the FDA’s refusal to grant the AHCF’s petition calling
for regulation of homeopathic drugs outside of the pre-market approval process for
conventional drugs. OTC homeopathic drug distributors, like Meditrend, face legal
uncertainty following the FDA’s decision to require pre-market approval for all
homeopathic drug products. The FDA’s stated homeopathic drug policy declares all

7
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such products presently unlawful if sold—subject only to the FDA’s “enforcement
discretion.” The FDA’s homeopathic policy provides no viable lawful means for the
continued manufacture, marketing, sale, and distribution of such products. The
AHCEF petition, if granted, would have provided clear standards for the lawful sale
of OTC homeopathic products outside the context of pre-market approval used for
conventional drugs. Meditrend is an aggrieved party under the meaning of 5 U.S.C.
§ 702.

B. Defendants
18. Defendant Robert M. Califf is the Commissioner of the United States

Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and is sued here in his official capacity.
The Commissioner is responsible for FDA’s administration of the federal Food,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”).

19. Defendant United States created, organized, and operates the FDA as

an administrative agency within the executive branch of the federal government.

IV. FACTS

A. FDA Regulation of Homeopathic Drugs

20. Homeopathy is a medical practice that uses highly diluted substances
that are believed to stimulate and strengthen the body’s self-healing ability. When
produced by, and applied under, governing scientific principles, homeopathic drugs
do not treat disease or the symptoms of disease directly, they are intended to work
on multiple systems to help the body re-establish homeostatic norms (good health).

21. One of the central principles of homeopathy is that, when properly
selected and prepared, only minute amounts of a drug, or even its energetic imprint,
are needed to cure, treat, mitigate, and prevent various diseases.

22. The FDCA defines “drug” to include, inter alia, “articles recognized in
the official United States Pharmacopoeia, official Homoeopathic Pharmacopoeia of
the United States, or official National Formulary, or any supplement to any of them.”

8
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21 U.S.C. § 321(g)(1)(A). A conventional “new drug” requires an approved drug
application filed under Section 355(b) or 355(j) before it can be marketed, i.e.,
introduced or delivered for introduction into interstate commerce. See id. at §
355(a).5 The FDA has yet to approve a new drug application for a homeopathic
drug. Nor has FDA evaluated whether any homeopathic drug is generally
recognized as safe and effective (“GRAS/E”).

23. Historically, OTC drugs have had pathways to market separate from
“new” drugs. Those pathways include reliance on published monographs that allow
OTC drugs to be marketed without proceeding through the costly new drug pre-
market approval process. OTC monograph drugs have relaxed pre-market
regulatory burdens because the products present little to no risk to patient health and
safety in contrast to conventional prescription drugs. See, e.g., 21 US.C. §
355h(a)(1)-(2) (an OTC drug satisfying the requirements of this section is deemed
to be generally recognized as safe and effective under section 21 U.S.C. § 321(p)(1),
not a “new drug” under section 321(p), and is not subject to section 353(b)(1)); 21
C.F.R. Part 333 (final OTC monograph establishing the conditions under which OTC
topical acne drug products are GRAS/E, and which was later incorporated into Final
Administrative Order OTC000013 on Nov. 23, 2021, OTC Monograph M006).

24. The FDA has a long history of exempting homeopathic drugs from
conventional “new” drug regulations. Beginning in 1972, the FDA made GRAS/E
determinations for several categories of OTC drugs pursuant to its OTC Drug
Review. See 37 Fed. Reg. 9464 (May 11, 1972); 21 C.F.R. Part 330. The FDA
formed advisory panels for OTC drugs under review. See 21 C.F.R. § 330.10; see
also FDA, Over-the-Counter (OTC) Drug Review, OTC Monograph Reform in the

6 A “new drug” does not include, however, a drug that, at any time prior to June
25, 1938, was subject to the Food and Drug Acts of June 30, 1906, as amended, and
if at such time its labeling contained the same representations concerning conditions
of use. See 21 U.S.C. § 321(p)(1).
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33. The CARES Act also defaulted certain OTC drug products into the
category of “new drugs” requiring pre-market approval unless and until the
Administrative Order pathway created new OTC monographs under which they
could then be marketed without an approved new drug application. See 21 U.S.C. §
355h(b). Congress therefore streamlined the OTC drug pathway but definitively did
not deem drugs already subject to those pathways to be unmarketable “new drugs”
subject to Section 355 approval. See id. at § 355h(a)(5)-(6). In effect, drugs already
subject to those pathways were grandfathered.

34. In particular, Congress exempted OTC homeopathic drug products
from the new OTC drug pathways. The CARES Act eliminated FDA discretion to
recategorize homeopathic OTC drugs by exempting them from the new OTC portals
for conventional drugs. See Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act,
Pub. L. No. 116-136, § 3853, Mar. 27, 2020, 134 Stat 281, 454 (2020). Thus, the
new administrative order process for recognizing GRAS/E OTC drugs does not
lawfully apply to homeopathic drugs.

35. Section 3853 of the CARES Act reconfirms the FDA

Commissioner’s exclusion of homeopathic drugs in 1972 from the OTC drug
review and thereby memorializes the FDA’s findings at that time that

homeopathic drugs were “unique” and needed regulation “as a separate
category.” The text of Section 3853 reads:

SEC. 3853. DRUGS EXCLUDED FROM THE OVER-THE-
COUNTER DRUG REVIEW.

(a) IN GENERAL.—Nothing in this Act (or the amendments made
by this Act) shall apply to any nonprescription drug (as defined in
section 505G(q) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as
added by section 3851 of this subtitle) which was excluded by the
Food and Drug Administration from the Over-the-Counter Drug
Review in accordance with the paragraph numbered 25 on page
9466 of volume 37 of the Federal Register, published on May 11,
1972.

13
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(b) RULE OF CONSTRUCTION.—Nothing in this section shall be
construed to preclude or limit the applicability of any other
provision of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C.
301 et seq.).

Id

36. Because FDA has not created a separate review process for determining
when an OTC homeopathic drug is marketable, OTC homeopathic drugs lack
regulatory standards to govern lawful marketing. Absent a rulemaking from FDA,
those products lack a legal avenue to market.

37. Under the CARES Act, Congress established that it did not intend for
OTC homeopathic drugs to be regulated in the same way as conventional drugs.
Although Congress indicated that other provisions of the FDCA can still apply (see
CARES Act § 3853(b)), the regulatory exclusion in Section 3853(a) is only
necessary or reasonable if Congress intended to exclude OTC homeopathic drugs
from the pre-market drug approval process used for conventional drugs, 21 U.S.C.
§ 355.

38. The FDA has authority and flexibility to find a homeopathic drug
GRASVE subject to conditions and standards appropriate to homeopathy. See 21
U.S.C. § 321(p)(1) (explaining that if experts, who are qualified by scientific training
and experience to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of drugs, generally recognize
a drug as safe and effective for use under the conditions prescribed, recommended,
or suggested in the labeling thereof, then the drug is not a “new drug™). In Section
3853, Congress plainly sought to relax regulatory burdens on homeopathic drugs by
preventing FDA from applying conventional GRAS/E standards to such drugs.
Evidence specific to the art of homeopathy, such as results of homedpathic provings
or compliance with an HPUS monograph, have historically been used to establish

that a homeopathic drug is safe and efficacious.

C. AHCPF’s Citizen Petition
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including its request to publish regulations fostering the continued marketing and
sale of homeopathic drugs.

51. The FDA repeated its erroneous conclusion that the CARES Act
imposed new drug approval requirements on homeopathic drugs. Id. at 3.

52. The FDA reiterated its concern over the safety of homeopathic
products. Id. at 4. However, to the extent FDA identified purported safety concerns,
the agency’s analysis focused only on isolated instances involving manufacturing
errors, not on problems endemic to homeopathic drugs themselves. Id. For example,
the FDA acknowledged that safety concerns related to instances where the
homeopathic ingredients contained in the final product “far exceeded the labeled
amounts...” Id.

53. The FDA denied the AHCF’s proposal to permit continued sale of
homeopathic drugs subject to long-standing HPUS monographs. See id. at 6-7, 13-
14. FDA therefore rejected AHCF’s position that homeopathic drugs which had
been sold for over eighty years are not “new” drugs under 21 U.S.C. § 321(p). Most
homeopathic drug products are now defined as “new.” Those products have been
manufactured and marketed for decades under standards and monographs provided
in the HPUS. Under 21 U.S.C. § 321(p)(1), products marketed under the HPUS are
generally recognized, among experts qualified in homeopathic practice, as safe and
clinically effective for their homeopathic uses. Describing a product that has been
marketed and sold to consumers for generations as a “new” drug conflicts with the
plain and intended meaning of the statute.

54. The FDA also rejected AHCF’s proposal to permit evaluation of
homeopathic drugs under homeopathic—rather than conventional—standards of

review. See Denial Letter at 7-8, 11-12.

F. Meditrend’s Comments

19
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(holding that agency interpretation violated CARES Act and thus 5 US.C. §
706(2)(C) where CARES Act spoke directly to the issue).

59. Regulating OTC homeopathic drugs under the same standards as
conventional “new” drugs violates the CARES Act and contradicts its legislative
intent.

60. Agency action in excess of, or in conflict with, statutory command is
unlawful under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)}(A)
and (C) and is entitled to no judicial deference; indeed, even were there some degree
of statutory ambiguity arguably present, Loper Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo, 603
U.S. __ (2024), makes it emphatically the duty of the Court, not the FDA, to
determine the statutory meaning in line with the canons of statutory construction.

61. Under Section 3853(a) of the CARES Act, products “excluded” by
FDA in 1972 are OTC homeopathic drugs. That statutory note is unambiguous.
Congress intended through this exclusion to relax—not heighten—the premarket
burdens on OTC homeopathic drugs and did not intend homeopathic drugs to be
subjected to increased “new drug” pre-market approval requirements under 21
U.C.S. § 355.

62. By exempting OTC homeopathic drugs from pre-market approval
requirements, Congress intended to permit the continued marketing and sale of OTC
homeopathic drugs subject to the conditions defined in CPG 400.400. That
interpretation is supported by Congressional intent.

63. Congress expressly adopted and ratified the FDA’s language from 1972
wherein the FDA excluded OTC homeopathic drugs from premarket requirements
“[blecause of the uniqueness of homeopathic medicine...” See 37 Fed. Reg. 9466
(125). Following that FDA-issued exemption in 1972, the FDA then permitted
homeopathic products to be marketed without premarket approval for nearly fifty
(50) years. By adopting the FDA’s language from the Federal Register, Congress

expressly acknowledged that OTC homeopathics should not be regulated the same
21
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as conventional drugs but, instead, under a different regulatory scheme. Requiring
homeopathic drugs to meet stricter standards, i.e., by eliminating the marketing
pathway permitted under the CPG 400.400, FDA rejected the plain and intended
meaning of the CARES Act, thus violating it.

64. Congress’s language in the CARES Act is consistent with other
provisions of the FDCA, including 21 U.S.C. § 360eee(13), which expressly
excludes “homeopathic drugs marketed in accordance with applicable guidance
under this chapter” from significant obligations imposed on conventional drugs,
which are found in Section 360eee-1. Those requirements include, inter alia,
product identifiers, manufacturing requirements, wholesale distributor requirements,
dispenser requirements, repackager requirements, enhanced drug distribution
requirements, and guidance documents. See 21 U.S.C. § 360eee-1. See Drug
Quality and Security Act, Pub. L. 113-54 (Nov. 27, 2013), 127 Stat 587. Thus, here
again, Congress chose to relax (not heighten) the regulatory requirements applicable
to homeopathic drug products. Congress referenced the FDA’s “applicable
guidance” related to homeopathic drugs in existence at that time in 2013, i.e., CPG
400.400. Congress intended for homeopathic drug regulation to proceed in
accordance with CPG 400.400.

65. The FDA’s recognition that homeopathic drugs are not “new drugs”
within the meaning of the FDCA for nearly eighty (80) years undermines the
agency’s assertion that such products must now be regulated as “new drugs” under
Section 355.

66. Under the major questions doctrine, the FDA lacks a clear statutory
command to increase regulatory burdens to the point of destroying the entire
consumer market in homeopathic OTC drugs by imposing on it burdensome new
drug regulatory requirements and the associated typical billions of dollars of cost per
drug.
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COUNT TWO

FDA Violated 5 U.S.C. 706(2)(A) and 5 U.S.C. 553(b) by Denying AHCF’s
Request for a Rulemaking Regarding Homeopathic Drugs

73. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all allegations contained in
Paragraph 1 through Paragraph 72.

74. FDA erred in denying AHCF’s request for regulation concerning
homeopathic drug products.

75. After Congress exempted OTC homeopathic drugs from OTC drug
approval pathways in the CARES Act, OTC homeopathic drugs were left without a
pathway to market. Regulation of homeopathic drugs under Section 355 is legally
and scientifically inappropriate.

76. Absent regulatory standards, homeopathic manufacturers lack legal
protections for homeopathic products. Those manufacturers also lack recourse if the
agency moves to act against them on a case-by-case basis.

77. Because homeopathic drugs are unique and function differently from
conventional drugs—a fact Congress has affirmed—requiring OTC homeopathic
drugs to proceed through conventional new drug pre-market approval pathways is
infeasible and would destroy the homeopathic industry in the United States, an
industry that Congress did not intend to destroy, but to preserve.

78.  The Court has authority to overturn an agency’s decision not to initiate
a rulemaking where the agency has committed an error of law or incorrectly
evaluated fundamental factual premises. See, e.g., WildEarth Guardians v. U.S.
E.P.A.,751F.3d 649, 653 (D.C. Cir. 2014); see also New York v. Env't Prot. Agency,
921 F.3d 257, 261 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (the Court may set aside the agency’s judgment
where the agency “had not adequately explained the facts and policy concerns it

relied on or that those facts did not have some basis in the record™).
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79. Here the FDA’s decision to avoid rulemaking was based on
fundamental errors of law and fact. The FDA erroneously concluded that Congress
pursuant to the CARES Act intended all homeopathics (including OTC homeopathic
drugs) to be regulated under 21 U.S.C. § 355. FDA also erroneously concluded that
FDA lacks a statutory basis to regulate homeopathics differently. The FDA also
erroneously concluded that increased regulatory oversight was necessitated by safety
risks not proven endemic to homeopathics but based entirely on isolated instances
of manufacturer error.

80. But most OTC homeopathic drug products are not “new” drugs under
21 U.S.C. § 321(p) because those products have been sold subject to HPUS
monographs and, thus, labeled for the same conditions of use since prior to 1938.
The vast majority, if not all, homeopathic drug ingredients have been on the market
since before the Food and Drugs Act of 1906. The FDA therefore erred in deeming
all OTC homeopathic drugs marketed subject to HPUS monographs predating 1938
to be “new drugs” under Section 321(p). The FDA’s new regulations governing
homeopathic drugs flatly contradict the statutory law governing those products.

(1) The Court should reverse and remand FDA’s final action in its Final
Guidance consistent with the Court’s order, thereby necessitating that FDA maintain
the status quo ante (before adoption of its Final Guidance) until such time as the
FDA completes a rulemaking under 5 U.S.C. 553(b) to provide a path to market
consistent with the CARES Act that mirrors conditions defined in the now-rescinded

CPG 400.400.

COUNT THREE

FDA Violates 5 U.S.C. 706(2)(A) by Imposing Heightened Regulatory Burdens
on Homeopathic Drugs Based on Unsupported and Misleading “Safety”
Concerns

26
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81. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all allegations contained in
Paragraph 1 through Paragraph 80.

82. FDA acted arbitrarily and capriciously by imposing heightened
regulatory requirements on homeopathic drug products based on hypothesized safety
concerns where the administrative record instead shows homeopathic drugs pose no
cognizable safety risks to consumers.

83. Based on unsupported safety concerns, FDA arbitrarily and
capriciously took adverse action against an entire industry. FDA’s conclusions
regarding homeopathic drug safety were unsupported by fact, and contradicted the
evidence available to FDA at the time. See Exh. B at 3-4; Exh. E at 4. Homeopathic
OTCs are much safer than conventional medicines; homeopathics are already
deemed GRAS/E by the FDA.

84. In December 2022, FDA published the Final Guidance. In that
guidance document, FDA stated that it “developed a risk-based approach under
which the Agency intends to prioritize enforcement and regulatory actions involving
certain categories of such products that potentially pose a higher risk to public
health.” Final Guidance at 1 (emphasis added). FDA ascribed generalized and
hypothesized safety risks to an unspecified number of products. See Exh. B at 3.

85. FDA presumed homeopathic OTC drugs carry a heightened safety risk,
contrary to the evidence. FDA claims that since issuance of CPG 400.400, the
Agency has encountered “multiple situations” in which homeopathic drug products
posed a significant risk to patients. Id. at 3. FDA alleged that such products either
caused or “could have caused” significant harm. See id. at 3 (quotations added). For
proof, FDA cited to the teething and Zicam products also referenced in the denial
letter, and discussed by AFHC’s citizen petition. See id. at 3 n.12; Exh. E at 4; Exh.
A at11-12.

86. FDA acknowledges that homeopathic drugs are distinct from other
drugs. See Exh. E at 11. The only two examples offered by FDA of safety concerns
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in relation to homeopathic OTCs involved labeling and manufacturing issues related
to baby teething products and nasal sprays, and the quality of the data on which the
FDA relied has been challenged.?’> However, the FDA identified no evidence that
homeopathic products were inherently or intrinsically unsafe when manufactured or
used as intended, citing instead to specific isolated instances of manufacturer error
having nothing to do with endemic or intrinsic characteristics of homeopathic
products. See generally Exh B; Exh. E.

87. The AHCF petition generated over 54,000 comments, almost
exclusively in support of AHCF’s request to foster continued sales of homeopathic
drugs through reasonable regulation. Those comments included those from the
medical community reciting detailed experiences with homeopathic product safety.
See, e.g., Dkt. Nos. FDA-2020-P-1510-20392 (medical doctor explaining that
homeopathy is “the safest category of drugs”); -9213 (explaining that 200-year
history of homeopathic use supports safety); -16385 (explaining the impracticality
of proposed homeopathic regulation and highlighting the record of homeopathic
safety); -19987 (homeopathic history of safe use); -2444 (Registered Nurse
explaining that homeopathic drugs are “the safest and most non-toxic medicine”); -
27937 (“The safety and effectiveness of homeopathy is also backed by thousands of
research studies); -10465 (safety of homeopathy compared to safety risks with
conventional drugs); -23435 (homeopathy lacks side effects present with
conventional drugs); -2120 (describing 200+ year history of safe homeopathic use);
-26093 (describing “nontoxic and inherently safe” use of homeopathics); -54013
(explaining that homeopathic medications are safe when properly manufactured and
labeled); -9154 (same); -20237 (same); -9200 (same).

88. The World Health Organization concluded that “Adverse events

occurring during homeopathic treatment are rarely attributed to the homeopathic

25 Lennihan, B. "Food and Drug Administration Action Against Homeopathic
Teething Tablets Lacked Evidence Base." Alt. Compl. Therapy. 2018:24(1):19-28.
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96. FDA'’s finding that homeopathic drugs present a risk to consumer safety
also conflicts with the agency’s understanding of homeopathy. The FDA
understands homeopathy to involve dilution and succussion of active ingredients to
form a final homeopathic product. See Final Guidance at 1 (defining a “homeopathic
drug product” as a drug product that, inter alia, “is labeled as containing only active
ingredients and dilutions (e.g., 10x, 20X) listed for those active ingredients . . .”).
Those dilutions result in finished products that contain low levels of active ingredient
well below the dose at which an ingredient results in toxicity.

97. To the extent FDA identifies safety issues at all, the FDA’s decision to
require pre-market approval over all homeopathic drug products does not address
those concerns. Pre-market approval does not address manufacturing errors and
cGMP violations.

98. Because the FDA predicated its revised Guidance and regulatory
approach to homeopathic drugs on flawed, misleading, exaggerated, and
unsupported safety concerns, the FDA acted arbitrarily and capriciously in violation

of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

COUNT FOUR

FDA'’s Final Homeopathy Guidance Violates the Due Process Clause of
Article V of the United States Constitution by Imposing Vague and
Ambiguous Conditions on the Continued Sale of Homeopathic OTC Drugs

99. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all allegations contained in
Paragraph 1 through Paragraph 99.

100. FDA'’s Final Guidance violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth
Amendment of the United States Constitution and the APA’s prohibition on
unconstitutional agency action (5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(B)) because the Guidance gives

FDA unbridled discretion to remove homeopathic products from the market and fails
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deprives the regulated class of guidance sufficient to discern a reliable way to
lawfully market homeopathic products, leaving the regulated class to guess as to
what requirements apply, they being entirely what agency regulators select moment
by moment at their whim or caprice. That void leaves Meditrend and the entire
regulated class unable to determine at present and in future which homeopathic
products, if any, are lawful to manufacture, distribute, and sell.

104. Although the Final Guidance cites examples of “risky” products that
may have enforcement priority, the FDA reserves the right to take enforcement
action against any homeopathic product without providing prior notice: “FDA is not
required, and generally does not expect, to give special notice that a drug product
may be subject to enforcement action.” Final Guidance at 4. Critically, the FDA
reserves unto itself unlimited discretion to act against any homeopathic drug product
for any reason: “[T]his guidance is intended to provide notice that any homeopathic
drug product that is being marketed illegally is subject to FDA enforcement action
at any time.” Id. at 5. FDA has also taken the position that all homeopathic drug
products are “being marketed illegally,” because the FDA now requires all
homeopathic drugs to achieve new drug pre-market approval under Section 355. No
homeopathic drug product has achieved that, and none will likely do so given the
enormous new drug filing fees and the extraordinary multi-billion dollar cost of
achieving market access for each new drug. See id. at 3.

105. Inshort, the Final Guidance deems all homeopathic drugs unlawful, and
FDA fails to provide the regulated class, including Meditrend, with any standards
by which homeopathic drugs can be manufactured, distributed, and sold lawfully
other than through the Section 355 pre-market new drug approval requirements—
the standard Congress meant to apply exclusively to drugs other than homeopathic
drugs. Thus, FDA declares that it will use enforcement discretion for “risky”
products that are very broadly defined. For example, these include products “that
contain or purport to contain ingredients associated with potentially significant
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guidelines to govern enforcement. See U.S. v. Regan, 93 F. Supp. 2d 82, 87 (D.
Mass. 2000) (citing City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 57 (1999)). Vague
regulations violate due process rights because they “neither give a party fair notice
of the type of activity the regulation proscribes nor sets the standards by which
government officials will enforce the regulation, permitting arbitrary and
discriminatory enforcement.” See Jacobsen v. Rensink, No. C 96-4074 MWB, 1997
WL 33833742, at *16 (N.D. Iowa Mar. 15, 1997).

110. The FDA’s Final Guidance neither provides homeopathic drug
manufacturers with fair notice of the standards by which OTC homeopathic drugs
can be lawfully marketed, nor sets standards to govern when FDA officials will deem
homeopathic drugs unsaleable.

111. The FDA had reasonable alternatives that would have avoided Due
Process concerns. For more than thirty years, the FDA regulated the industry under
the CPG 400.400 using standards that gave fair notice.

VL. RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court,

(2) Declare that homeopathic drugs marketed subject to an HPUS
monograph published prior to 1938 are not “new” drugs under 21 U.S.C. § 321(p);

(3) Declare that OTC homeopathic drugs are exempted by the CARES Act
from pre-market new drug approval requirements under 21 U.S.C. § 355(a);

(4) Enjoin FDA from taking enforcement action against OTC homeopathic
products on grounds that such products require pre-market new drug approval under
21 U.S.C. § 355; and

(5) Reverse and remand the FDA’s final action in its Final Guidance
consistent with the Court’s order, thereby necessitating that FDA maintain the status
quo ante (before adoption of its Final Guidance) until such time as FDA initiates a
rulemaking under 5 U.S.C. 553(b) to provide a practical pathway, consistent with
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